
 

WICR Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 1 of 15 

Minutes 

Meeting Title: WEM Investment Certainty Review (WIC Review) 

Date: 11 October 2023 

Time: 9:30 AM to 11:30 AM 

Location: Microsoft TEAMS 

 

Attendees Company Comment 

Dora Guzeleva Chair  

Mena Gilchrist AEMO  

Oscar Carlberg Alinta Energy  

Graham Pearson Australian Energy Council  

Daniel Kurz Bluewaters Power 1 Pty Ltd  

Francis Ip BLT Energy Pty Ltd  

Tom Frood Bright Energy Investments Joined at 10:10am 

Jake Flynn Collgar Renewables  

Liz Aitken Empire Carbon and Energy  

William Street Entego Group Pty Ltd  

Dr Matt Shahnazari ERA  

Luke Skinner Expert Consumer Panel  

Noel Schubert Expert Consumer Panel  

Dale Waterson Merredin Energy  

Timothy Edwards Metro Power  

Patrick Peake Perth Energy  

Tessa Liddelow Shell Energy  

Shane Cremin Summit Southern Cross Power Pty Ltd  

Rhiannon Bedola Synergy  

Peter Huxtable Water Corporation   

Valentina Kogon Western Power  

Shelley Worthington Energy Policy WA  

Tonia Curby Energy Policy WA  

Tim Robinson RBP (consultants to Energy Policy WA)  

 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 2 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

1-3 Welcome, Minutes and attendance 

The Chair opened the meeting with an Acknowledgment of Country and 
welcomed members. 

The attendance was taken as listed above. 

The Minutes from WICRWG 2023_08_31 were approved. 

 

4 Approach to emissions threshold regime – existing facilities 

Mr Robinson recapped the two proposed thresholds, the Emissions 
Rate Threshold and the Emissions Quantity Threshold. He noted that 
existing facilities would only be subject to the Emissions Rate 
Threshold, with arrangements to phase it in. 

Mr Robinson noted that this proposal is different to the proposal presented 
at the last WICRWG meeting. 

Mr Robinson described the issues with using National Greenhouse 
Emissions Register (NGER) data to assess performance against the 
emissions thresholds, noting that: 

o the use of NGER data no longer seems workable; 

o NGER groups facilities differently to how they are 
registered in the WEM; 

o some facilities do not produce enough energy to have 
reporting obligations meaning that these facilities would 
require an additional mechanism to capture emissions 
data; 

o due to the nature of the NGER reporting period, emissions 
data would be 18 months old by the time it would be used 
for the purpose of the RCM; 

o the data includes emissions and energy produced for all 
uses, including sources not directly related with electricity 
generation; and 

o emissions intensities are volatile between years due to 
facilities’ efficiencies at different capacity factors. 

• Mrs Bedola asked which facilities do not have reporting obligations. 

Mr Robinson answered that small facilities generally do not have 
reporting obligations. 

• Ms Aitken answered that the Tesla units do not have to report to 
NGER. 

• Mr Waterson answered that the Merredin facility does not need to 
report to the NGER. 

Mr Robinson noted that EPWA considers that a WEM specific 
reporting mechanism should be developed. 

Mr Robinson outlined the two options for the approach to emissions 
tracking in the WEM: 

 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 3 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

• option one is to use a historical emissions rate based on actual output 
and actual emissions using historical data - Mr Robinson noted that 
this option would cause more volatility from year to year; and 

• option two is to use a theoretical emissions rate based on theoretical 
emissions at a specified point on the heat rate curve - Mr Robinson 
noted that this option would be less volatile and less complex and 
would provide clear signals. He considered that this option would be 
easier to manage and monitor than having to calculate historical 
emissions data every year. 

Mr Robinson noted that EPWA considers that option two is more 
suitable. 

• Ms Aitken considered that the actual emissions rate would be better 
than the theoretical emissions rate as dispatch in the WEM may cause 
the plant to not be able to operate at theoretical emissions intensities. 

• Mr Skinner was concerned with what the transparency would be when 
comparing actual with theoretical emissions, noting that there are risks 
with relying on manufacturer or generator provided data. 

Mr Robinson asked if Mr Skinner meant that there would need to be a 
way to check and validate the theoretical emissions rate against the 
actual rate. 

• Mr Skinner agreed and noted that transparency was also needed to 
ensure that what is said is being done, is what is actually being done. 

The Chair noted that EPWA will consider this further and take these 
views into account, and that EPWA would consider both options. 

• Mr Schubert noted that he is happy with the theoretical emissions limit 
but agrees with Mr Skinner that it would need to be checked against 
actual emissions. 

• Mr Schubert considers that sent out generation should be used as this 
would incentivise plants to improve their efficiency. 

Mr Robinson noted that sent out generation is currently used in the 
proposal. 

• Mr Edwards considered that the Clean Energy Regulator does 
something similar, for example it uses meter data to create Large-
scale Generation Certificates (LGCs). He considered that there needs 
to be a theoretical threshold and a true-up at the end of the period.  

• Mr Carlberg noted his support with the theoretical emissions limit 
approach and the intent of a true-up but is concerned it may present a 
high risk to investors. He considered that true-ups would be related to 
heat rate which is not always in the generator’s control. 

The Chair clarified whether Mr Carlberg meant he was happy with the 
theoretical emissions rate but does not support changing the 
threshold afterwards. 

• Mr Carlberg noted that he is hesitant to support the true-up. 

• Mrs Bedola agreed with Mr Carlberg. 

• Mr Peake agreed with Mr Carlberg, especially if the plant is providing 
ESS and is not at optimum operating efficiency. 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 4 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

Mr Robinson discussed the annual emissions quantity variation for 
different facilities and noted that a facility’s actual emissions rate may 
be quite different from its theoretical emission rates from year to year. 
He asked Mr Carlberg if he was questioning how to avoid this 
volatility. 

• Mr Carlberg considered that aside from choosing their technology 
type, generators are not in control of the emissions. 

• Mr Kurz considered that the heat rate variation between loading levels 
can be large. 

• Ms Aitken agreed with Mr Carlberg’s point that not operating at 
optimum efficiency is a real risk in the theoretical approach. She noted 
that every generator knows what its fuel use is in real time which could 
be used to calculate emissions and suggested penalising facilities if 
they deviate by more than 10%. 

The Chair noted that tracking fuel use may make sense. 

Mr Robinson noted that these are not directly comparable, but could 
be factored in. 

• Mr Schubert agreed with Ms Aitken that actual fuel use could be a 
good basis of emissions calculation. 

The Chair noted that EPWA may further investigate the use of heat 
curves for calculating emissions. 

• Mrs Bedola noted that she would be able to provide some heat curves 
for analysis. 

The Chair accepted Mrs Bedola’s offer. 

• Mr Skinner considered that this supports why true-ups should be 
required, because it would be a big problem for reducing emissions if 
a facility emits more than they say they will. 

The Chair clarified that emissions would not be self-reported by 
generators. 

Mr Robinson responded that this would be like the expert reports for 
the Relevant Level Method, for example. He noted that this would 
need to be substantiated through actual heat rates and comparisons 
to the forecast rate.  

The Chair noted that at a high level, using the heat rate would be less 
volatile than using the output. 

• Mr Street asked how the heat rate point would be chosen for the 
calculation.  

Mr Robinson responded that this would need to take into account the 
projected capacity factor for the plant. 

• Mr Street clarified that the likely type of generator in this space will be 
flexible rather than baseload and the variability of its output by year 
depends on system and commercial requirements and can change 
greatly. Mr Street considered that a dynamic input which can reflect 
this variability may be more appropriate.  

The Chair noted that EPWA will look further into this. 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 5 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

• Mr Carlberg noted he is happy with checking the heat rates but is 
mindful of penalising a generator when it is forced to operate at a less 
efficient part of their heat rate curve than expected. 

The Chair noted that the proposed methodology presented today 
provides more certainty than the methodology discussed last time. 
She noted that the majority view at the last WICRWG meeting was 
that a more robust method which provides more certainty for investors 
is required. 

Mr Robinson summarised that WICRWG members are settling 
somewhere in-between the two options. 

The Chair noted that the methodology will need transparency, clarity, 
verifiability and auditability and that this will be drafted in the WEM Rules. 

• Ms Aitken considered that annual volatility is the point here noting 
that, if a plant is becoming more marginal and its operational 
threshold becomes closer to the prescribed level, then it needs to 
make decisions about either reducing operations, investing capital 
to reduce emissions or shut down. 

• Ms Gilchrist noted that AEMO is supportive of the proposal, however, 
questioned what AEMO’s role would be in the testing of the theoretical 
rate. She noted that AEMO would like the flexibility of being able to 
use independent experts if this can deliver better outcomes.  

The Chair noted that AEMO would have the flexibility to use 
independent experts if this is determined to have better outcomes. 

• Mr Peak noted that plants have been operating well away from their 
predicted outputs this year due to external issues. 

• Mr Schubert considered that ideally WEMDE would be able to 
optimise for emissions too and noted that a price on emissions would 
help WEMDE to do this. 

• Mr Peake asked how batteries are treated under this proposal. 

Mr Robinson responded that batteries are not considered in emissions 
calculations as the emissions of the facility producing the electricity 
are counted. 

• Mr Skinner responded that emissions are not counted twice. 

• Mrs Bedola noted that there needs to be some level of oversight as to 
how the rate is used but that the variability in output levels should not 
penalise facilities if it is driven by market needs. 

• Mr Peake considered that the target may need to be more 
sophisticated. He considered that there may need to be a curve or 
bounds that a facility is allowed to operate in. He considered that this 
would account for emissions that are outside of the generators control 
to a degree. 

The Chair considered that the simplest approach would be to look at 
manufacturer data and then compare it to actual facility data. 

• Mrs Bedola responded to Mr Peake that facilities could certify at lower 
capacity if the rate is too high at their maximum output. 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 6 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

• Ms Gilchrist asked if this meant that the facility could still run at its 
maximum output but would not receive capacity credits for all of its 
capacity. 

• Ms Bedola responded that this would restrict their capacity credits. 

The Chair considered that this may get too complex, noting that the 
intention of this review is to provide a signal in the RCM and give 
certainty to the AEMO regarding what is happening in each Reserve 
Capacity Cycle.  

• Mr Waterson questioned whether emissions rate would be less 
favourable at a lower operating output. 

Mr Robinson agreed, noting that the optimum emissions rate is 
around 90% of the capacity. 

• Mr Peake considered that to limit emissions a generator would want to 
avoid a low level of output rather than high. 

• Mr Kurz noted that the most efficient rate is not at the top end of the 
capacity. 

• Mrs Bedola considered that the maximum sent out could be set at the 
level at which it has been certified. 

• Mr Schubert asked whether the 0.55 threshold would need to change 
if we used sent out rather than generated MWh. 

• Mrs Bedola considered that this would need to be accounted for in the 
14-hour obligation. 

Mr Robinson noted that EPWA will consider this discussion and come 
back with revised proposals. 

• Mr Cremin agreed with Mr Peake and considered that, if the aim of 
this work is investment certainty, it would be very challenging for 
proponents to invest if there are factors that are out of their hands. He 
noted that this is not dissimilar to what is done at the moment, with 
capacity credits awarded at 41 degrees Celsius which is not standard 
and as a result specialist tests are required. He considered that 
simplicity is needed and change should not be made each year.  

The Chair agreed about simplicity. 

• Mr Street agreed with Mr Cremin. 

• Mr Skinner noted that he did not think new gas turbines should be 
encouraged. 

• Mr Carlberg considered that the SWISDA says otherwise. 

• Ms Aitken noted preference for the approach presented today, over 
the proposal from the last WICRWG meeting. 

• Mr Peake considered that the nominated rate should be the facility’s 
rated capacity. 

Mr Robinson suggested using emissions rates at different points of 
the heat rate curve and either combining them or having different 
emission thresholds along the heat curve. 

• Mrs Bedola suggested that a facility could certify a smaller number of 
MW to prevent it from being removed from the market. She considered 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 7 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

that this would prevent a whole facility’s worth of capacity being 
removed, but rather a smaller amount of capacity to assist with the 
transition. 

The Chair noted that new technologies are needed to come in, noting 
that the network is currently constrained. She was not sure what the 
consequence would be of having a fleet of generators generating 
below their rated capacity preventing new capacity of coming in. 

Mr Robinson was concerned that this would actually make things less 
certain. 

• Mr Schubert noted that existing facilities can improve as technology 
evolves. 

The Chair noted that this is something that should be considered. 

The Chair summarised that the key concerns of the WICRWG are: 

• providing certainty for investors; 

• members prefer the option presented in this meeting, over the option 
presented at the previous WICRWG meeting; and 

• the chosen option will need transparency and simplicity. 

5 Approach to emissions threshold regime - New Facilities 

• Ms Gilchrist questioned how directions from AEMO would impact a 
facility running at or above its emissions cap. 

The Chair noted that this would not be relevant for existing facilities 
under this proposal. 

Mr Robinson noted that this would be relevant for new facilities and 
that this will be covered in a later slide. 

Mr Robinson noted that the proposed thresholds are 0.55tCO2-
e/MWh and 1000tCO2-e/MW annual threshold. He noted that this 
does not preclude new peaking/firming gas fired plants which would 
be able to run at a capacity factor of up to 20% under this proposal. 
He noted that this does preclude new coal and diesel plants. 

Mr Robinson noted that the Benchmark Reserve Capacity Price 
Reference Technology Review is assuming a capacity factor of 10%. 

Mr Robinson noted that AEMO directions could be excluded from the 
annual cap, but the ERA would need to monitor for facilities 
deliberately forcing a direction by AEMO. 

• Mrs Bedola noted if a gas-fired facility is coming in, it cannot have an 
obligation to have 14-hour fuel if the thresholds are limited to 20% 
capacity factor. 

The Chair responded that the 14-hour obligation does not mean that a 
facility needs to run for 14 hours but rather that the facility has 14 
hours of fuel when the AEMO needs it. 

• Mrs Bedola noted that these facilities would prefer to be certified in the 
capability class two. She noted that there are issues with creating a 
system where facilities over-contract for fuel.  

The Chair considered that these are two different things, what 
availability is wanted from a plant compared to what a plant is 

 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 8 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

expected to run during the year. She noted that the proposal requires 
the facilities to have 14-hour of fuel and the ability to replenish this 
within three days. 

• Mrs Bedola noted she was not sure if one could get a gas contract for 
three days in a row. 

The Chair responded that there have been various allowances made 
for the ways a plant can meet this obligation including the use of gas 
laterals and storage.  

• Ms Aitken asked why the emissions rate is greater than the current 
WEM average intensity published by the CER of 0.52. Ms Aitken 
considered that the threshold should be at or below the emissions 
average of the WEM. 

The Chair considered that this calculation takes into account all the 
generation above a certain size. 

Mr Robinson considered that the average intensity rate would include 
all of the generation and this average would be made up of lots of 
different types of facilities. 

The Chair considered that this rate would drop rapidly if we achieved 
the level of intermittent renewable generation we want on our system, 
and that this average rate includes the renewables generators. 

• Ms Aitken raised a concern that the proposed thresholds would never 
bring us to net zero. 

The Chair responded that the threshold is proposed to decrease over 
time. 

• Mr Schubert responded to Ms Aitken noting that this average includes 
renewables, and if this average removed all renewables, it would be 
higher than 0.55. 

• Ms Aitken responded that we should be aiming for a reduction over 
time, noting that a new facility can be exempt from these thresholds. 

The Chair clarified that only existing facilities would be eligible for 
exemption. She noted that participants have expressed concerns 
about reliability. 

• Mr Skinner agreed with Ms Aitken in theory and considered that any 
new entrant should have lower than the existing average emissions 
intensity and that this is a question about whether or not we should 
build new gas facilities. 

• Mr Bedola responded that when Synergy’s coal facilities retire, the 
average will drop. 

• Mr Skinner considered that this meeting is about the peaking plant 
which has a relatively small impact on overall emissions. 

• Mr Schubert responded that in a system with 90% renewables, for 
example, the emissions intensity would be extremely low and there 
would be no plant other than renewables which could meet this 
threshold. 

The Chair emphasized the importance of demonstrating a transition which 
does not harm reliability and security of the system. 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 9 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

• Mr Carlberg noted support in principle with the 0.55 threshold, noting 
that new gas would be sensitive to a true-up which would expose it to 
risk. 

• Mr Carlberg asked for the rationale behind the quantity threshold, 
noting that he did not think that thermal capacity which operates under 
the proposed threshold would be displacing other capacity types. 

The Chair responded that, while we want to help the security of the 
system by bringing in peaking plants, the objective is not to have gas 
replace coal at high emissions rates. 

• With regard to exemptions for AEMO directions, Mr Carlberg noted 
that peaking plants would be offering at the price cap, and asked 
whether exemptions would be given when dispatched at the cap. 

Mr Robinson responded that this is not the intent, and that the facility 
would need a formal direction from AEMO, when it is intervening in the 
market, to receive an exemption. 

The Chair noted that AEMO would provide directions under the Rules 
during a high risk operating state. She reminded members that this point 
arose from concerns raised by Ms Gilchrist regarding a situation in which 
AEMO is issuing more directions than usual and in which AEMO should 
be able to direct facilities close to their emissions cap. The Chair 
emphasized that this would not apply to participant bidding behaviour. 

• Mr Carlberg referred to the volatility in the new market and noted that 
the 1000tCO2 limit may be a big risk to generators, specifically when a 
facility is being called unexpectedly. 

• Mr Cremin agreed with Mr Carlberg, noting that the 1000tCO2 
thresholds to not make sense and that no investor will build base load 
gas in this market. Reciprocating plants are more likely and it would 
not be sensible to limit them to 20% capacity factor. 

The Chair asked members not to draw any conclusions from the first 
two weeks of new market operation, noting that there have been 
some unexpected outcomes which AEMO is investigating. 

• Dr Shahnazari noted that he is not too concerned about setting the 
emissions threshold at the average of the system and that it is unlikely 
that most of the generation in the system would come from facilities 
with a higher-than-average emissions intensity. He added that he is 
not too concerned at this stage, as  it seems that at this point in time 
we are more concerned about removing coal from the system. 

The Chair clarified that we wish to remove baseload gas from the system, 
as well as baseload coal. 

The Chair noted that the 0.55 will change over time and that this will be 
explained later in the slidepack. 

• Mr Peake questioned whether there would be new capacity to meet a 
lower emission threshold. 

Mr Robinson noted that the threshold was chosen as at this level there are 
facilities which could meet it. 

Mr Robinson clarified that, if the threshold was lowered all current 
technologies would be excluded and the only facilities left would be new 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 10 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

relatively unproven technologies such as those using hydrogen blending, 
and carbon capture and storage. 

Mr Robinson explained that the threshold would decrease towards 2050, 
which would either decrease capacity factors or drive the introduction of 
new technologies. 

• Mr Frood asked why not net zero, rather than zero emissions, by 
2050. 

Mr Robinson responded that there may be some mechanisms to offset 
emissions. 

• Mr Skinner considered that, although 2050 is the current legislated 
date for net zero, if the aim is to actually stay below 2C we need to 
reach net zero closer to 2035. 

The Chair noted that this is relevant context for the risks we are 
dealing with here. 

Mr Robinson provided an example of what the quantity threshold 
could look like over time. 

Mr Robinson asked members to consider whether a trajectory should 
be set, which reduces over time to 2050, or if the threshold should be 
regularly reviewed, e.g. every 5 years.  

Mr Robinson asked whether more certainty would be provided if the 
threshold drops every year by a small amount, or if the threshold 
reductions are larger but only every 5 years. 

The Chair reminded members that the aim is to maintain reliability and 
security while providing investment certainty. 

• Ms Gilchrist noted that the assumption is that facilities will retire when 
they are no longer eligible for capacity payments and questioned 
whether this was an accurate assumption. She questioned whether 
there was the potential for facilities to run more often in the real time 
market because they are no longer eligible for capacity credits. 

The Chair responded that Ms Gilchrist is correct, and that these 
facilities would still be able to operate in the market without receiving 
capacity credits. The Chair noted that in other jurisdictions there is a 
lot of concern about the uncertainty of facilities exiting the market at a 
short notice. One of the objectives of this review is to provide certainty 
of when capacity credits are due to be retired in order to bring new 
capacity in. She considered that this would allow new capacity to 
enter the market with presumably much lower running costs, which 
would help competition and pricing. 

The Chair noted that this review is being undertaken in the absence of 
clear national policy and noted that this policy may be retired if 
Commonwealth policy came in that could replace it. 

• Mr Schubert noted that his favoured option is to drop the threshold by 
a small amount each year, with regular review. 

• Mr Peake agreed with Mr Schubert and considered that costs to 
customers need to be considered. He considered that driving out an 
older plant which hardly runs and replacing it with a new expensive 
plant is not a good idea. 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 11 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

The Chair considered that this is not necessarily true, and that 
bringing in new plant would not necessarily increase but may 
decrease the price. 

• Mr Street considered that the option to decrease the threshold every 5 
years would provide more certainty, noting the risks around the lag in 
facilities being brought into operation. 

• Mr Frood considered that although the constant drop is attractive, it 
may not reflect the changing technology landscape and considered 
that this needs to be reviewed regularly. 

• Mr Carlberg considered that this should be subject to regular reviews 
based on modelling. 

• Mr Skinner agreed with Mr Carlberg noting that there will be too much 
change to predict 20 years in the future. 

The Chair summarised the members views that the market should 
signal a gradual drop in the threshold which would be reviewed at 
regular intervals outlined under the Rules. 

• Mrs Bedola agreed with the Chair. 

• Ms Aitken considered if we want new gas, the facility needs to last for 
20 years to ensure a return on investment. She noted that if the 
threshold rate continues to decline, then the proponents would have to 
finance the facility over 10 years as this is the only time the facility 
output will be guaranteed to not be curtailed based on the emissions 
intensity threshold. Ms Aitken asked if the way that the capacity 
mechanism pays for these plants is going to change. Ms Aitken did not 
believe this has been addressed. 

• Ms Aitken emphasized that the reserve capacity price would need to 
be doubled in order to allow for a new gas plant to make return on 
investment. She noted that this does not provide investment certainty 
and cannot see a new facility investing under this proposal. 

The Chair noted that the mechanism has to be designed so net zero 
emissions can be achieved by 2050. 

• Mr Carlberg and Mr Cremin agreed with Ms Aitken. 

• Ms Gilchrist questioned whether a drop for each year could be 
provided for in the rules, with the reviews allowing the drop to be less. 
She considered that this could provide more certainty and allow the 
drop to be decreased in the event there is no capacity to replace the 
capacity which would be excluded. 

The Chair considered that this would be the purpose of the proposed 
review. 

• Mrs Bedola sought to clarify her understanding that once a facility was 
registered, it would be considered an existing facility and be subject to 
reduced rates. She added that the rate threshold would remain, but 
the annual threshold would continue to decrease. 

Mr Robinson responded that the proposal is that a facility would keep 
its thresholds from when the facility entered for 10 years. He 
considered that it could be an option to allow the facility to keep its 
rate threshold forever, but the annual threshold decreases over time. 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 12 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

• Mr Skinner considered that there is no emission reduction policy 
setting which can give investment certainty to high emissions 
technology beyond ten years in reality. 

• Dr Shahnazari considered that there is a deep level of uncertainty on 
future technology costs and the system mix. He considered that a 
trajectory for emissions levels over time to net zero needs to be 
agreed to provide some certainty for investors. 

• Mr Carlberg noted that SWISDA showed new gas being built to 
approximately 2040 which suggests lowering the threshold for new 
facilities would need to occur around that time. 

6 Existing Facilities - transition 

Mr Robinson explained that the transitional threshold would initially be 
capped at 1t/CO2-e/MWh, with a decrease of 0.05tCO2-e each year, 
which would provide a relatively smooth profile of capacity excluded 
from the RCM. 

• Mr Peake considered that he would prefer to use the previous 
proposal noting it would be better to have older, less efficient 
machines running with a cap on emissions, over closing plants and 
forcing new plants onto the system. 

The Chair noted that the analysis has shown this approach may not 
be practical. 

• Ms Aitken considered that this could be solved if generators would be 
allowed to use offsets allowing them to operate for their full investment 
term. 

• Mr Carlberg considered that the target is net zero not absolute zero, 
noting that the final 20% is expensive. 

• Mr Waterson considered that offsets could work as a penalty to allow 
older plants to operate. 

• Mrs Bedola considered that offsets could be included in the energy 
market rather than the RCM. 

• Ms Aitken considers that this does not solve the problem of recovering 
fixed and investment costs over 20 years. 

The Chair noted that offsets were discussed in a previous meeting 
and noted that members were not receptive to offsets.  

 

7 Exemptions for Flexible Capacity Providers 

Mr Robinson noted that there would be 2GW of existing capacity, 
which would be eligible for Flexible Capacity Credits, noting that these 
facilities would be exempt from emission thresholds for ten years. 

• Mrs Bedola asked what the assumptions were for the Flex product. 

Mr Robinson responded that the assumptions were similar to those 
made under the BRCP reference technology review. 

Mr Robinson noted that the reason for the exemptions are the 
reliability concerns. 

 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 13 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

• Dr Shahnazari asked what the implications of this policy are, noting 
that the exemptions would mean we need to do more after 2030. 

Mr Robinson responded that further modelling of the effects of this 
proposal on emissions will be done as a part of this project which may 
answer this question. 

• Mr Skinner sought to understand how the exemptions allow us to stay 
within carbon budgets we are internationally committed to, noting we 
should get data on emissions scenarios before we make decisions. He 
noted that the importance of emissions reductions is being overridden 
by reliability concerns, rather than balancing the two.  

The Chair responded that this exemption would only apply to existing 
plants as applying exemptions for new plants would add to emissions 
rather than gradually reducing emissions. Regarding existing plants, 
the analysis shows that we need to be careful to maintain reliability. 

The Chair noted that this proposal will not solve our emissions 
objectives, but is rather to ensure that our reserve capacity 
mechanism does not continue to entrench this. She noted that in the 
absence of this mechanism, new liquid fuel plants could be built. 

• Mr Carlberg considered that a similar exemption should be provided 
for the new Flex capacity plant, noting that the Flex product requires 
facilities to operate at low levels, and turn on and off quickly. He 
considers that this would dramatically deteriorate emissions intensity 
rates. 

The Chair responded that the proposal is not to apply exemptions for 
new plants unless people provide strong evidence why we should. 

The Chair noted the risk with introducing this proposal too radically on 
reliability. 

• Mr Skinner agreed with the Chair but was concerned about the 
opposite outcome, if international, federal and state pressures may 
require decarbonisation at a quicker rate. 

The Chair acknowledged this and noted that with a shift in 
Government policy, this review outcomes will need to be changed. 
She noted that this policy aims to balance reliability with emissions 
reductions in the WEM. The Chair noted the lack of legislated carbon 
budgets. 

• Mr Skinner noted that, while there are no legislated carbon budgets, 
there are clear international guidelines regarding Australia’s carbon 
budget and noted that these are real and can be pointed to. He noted 
that the difficulty is these do not match up to Government policy. 

Mr Robinson noted that this is the first time this type of policy is being 
introduced. 

• Ms Aitken asked for an example of an existing plant in the WEM which 
could become flexible. 

• Mrs Bedola provided an example of Synergy’s HEGT and possibly 
Pinjar units. 

• Mr Peake added Kwinana Swift. 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 14 of 15 

Item Subject Action 

• Mr Peake considered that the amount of emissions in the future can 
only be reduced by major investment in renewables and that, if the 
transmission system is built, investors will build renewables. 

8 Cogeneration 

Mr Robinson outlined two options 

• add a mechanism to split emissions from electricity and process heat; 
or 

• exclude cogeneration from these thresholds altogether.  

Mr Robinson noted that most of the cogeneration plants are not 
receiving capacity credits and that most of these plants are reaching 
end of life in the next 10-15 years.  

Mr Robinson noted the recommended option is to exclude these from 
the scheme. 

The Chair noted that most cogeneration facilities do not receive 
capacity credits and are usually collocated with processing facilities. 
She noted that there is an ambition for these processes to electrify. 
She noted the potential equity issues if those cogeneration facilities 
which have capacity credits are included in this proposal while not 
including the facilities which do not have capacity credits. 

• Mr Schubert noted the efficiency of cogeneration facilities and 
considered that cogeneration plants emissions could be calculated 
based on ‘useful energy produced’. 

• Ms Aitken noted that cogeneration facilities are treated as scope 1 and 
are captured under the safeguard mechanism. 

• Mrs Bedola noted she is not in a position to comment here and that 
this should be a discussion EPWA has with the cogeneration facility 
owners, and accepts the proposal to exclude them from this regime as 
they will be captured under the federal safeguard mechanism. 

• Mr Carlberg considers that once process heat emissions are removed 
from cogeneration facilities, the facility would be within the proposed 
existing threshold for their remaining life. 

• Ms Gilchrist noted the BRCP review which could increase the capacity 
price and questioned whether this could be considered as a floor only 
meaning the price could go up but not down for those eligible. 

 

9 Summary of emissions threshold proposals 

This agenda item was deferred to the next WICRWG meeting. 

 

10 10-year RCP guarantee for new technologies 

Mr Robinson noted that: 

• the RCM proposes to offer a 10-year fixed price for proponents of new 
flexible technologies such as long-duration storage; and 

• EPWA proposes that any facility which uses a renewable fuel source 
to provide firm availability that exceeds the prevailing Electric Storage 
Resource Duration Requirement would be eligible.  

 



WIC Review Meeting 11 October 2023 Page 15 of 15 

The meeting closed at 11:30 AM 

Item Subject Action 

• Mr Huxtable queried whether pumped hydro with 4.1 hours of running 
time would be eligible. 

The Chair clarified that this price guarantee can be introduced as 
soon as the RCM rules are implemented. 

• Mr Skinner questioned the definition of renewable fuel source noting 
that biofuels are not necessarily a low emissions fuel source. 

The Chair considered that more detailed discussions were needed to 
determine an appropriate definition of renewable fuel source. 

• Mrs Bedola noted that EPWA needed to consider how to treat the 
change in duration, for example a 4-hour battery that ran for 6 hours. 

The Chair clarified that a battery’s duration would be determined if its 
nameplate capacity duration is longer than the duration gap. 

The Chair clarified that if the duration gap is 4 hours, a 6-hour battery 
for example, would be eligible for the guarantee. If the duration gap 
moves to 6 hours, a new 6 hour battery would not get the guarantee, 
but an 8 hour battery would. 

• Mr Carlberg considered that the definition could leverage the national 
legislation about renewable energy and asked whether batteries would 
be assumed to be renewable facilities. 

• Mr Carlberg suggested offering this to all capacity identified by the 
SWISDA that meets the emissions thresholds. He did not think that it 
can be assumed that the business case for other technologies are in 
any less need of certainty than renewable technologies. 

11 Upcoming meeting schedule 

Members were provided with the upcoming meeting schedule. 

 

12 General Business 

No general business was discussed. 

 


